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19 Before the Court is a Motion for Preliminary Approval of Class Action Settlement with
20 Defendants Adobe Systems Inc. (“Adobe”), Aplrle. (“Apple”), Google Inc. (“Google”), and
21 Intel Corp. (“Intel”) (kereafter, “Remaining Defendants”) light by three class representatives,
22 Mark Fichtner, Siddharth Hariharan, adniel Stover (herdter, “Plaintiffs”). SeeECF No. 920.
23 The Settlement provides for $324.5 million in recovienythe class in exchange for release of
24 antitrust claims. A fourth clagepresentative, Michael Devine (“Devine”), has filed an Oppositign
25 contending that the settlemteamount is inadequat8eeECF No. 934. Plaintiffs have filed a
26 Reply.SeeECF No. 938. Plaintiffs, Remamy Defendants, and Devimgpeared at a hearing on
27 June 19, 20145eeECF No. 940. In addition, a number of €83anembers have submitted letters i
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support of and in opposition to the proposetiament. ECF Nos. 914, 949-51. The Court, having
considered the briefing, the letters, the argumemsgnted at thedaring, and the record in this
case, DENIES the Motion for Preliminary Approval for the reasons stated below.

l. BACKGROUND AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

Michael Devine, Mark Fichtner, Siddharth Haaran, and Daniel Stover, individually and
on behalf of a class of all those similarly sieditallege antitrust claims against their former
employers, Adobe, Apple, Google, Intel, Intuiclrf“Intuit”), Lucasfilm Ltd. (“Lucasfilm”), and
Pixar (collectively, “Defendants”Plaintiffs allege that Defendé entered into an overarching
conspiracy through a series of bilateral agrestisi not to solicit each other’s employees in
violation of Section 1 of the Sherman AntitrusttAt5 U.S.C. 8§ 1, and Section 4 of the Clayton
Antitrust Act, 15 U.S.C. § 15. Plaintiffs contetidht the overarching conspiracy, made up of a
series of six bilateral agreemts (Pixar-Lucasfilm, Apple-#obe, Apple-Google, Apple-Pixar,
Google-Intuit, and Google-tal) suppressed wages of Defendants’ employees.

The five cases underlying this consolidated actiere initially filedin California Superior
Court and removed to federal coleeECF No. 532 at 5. The cases were related by Judge
Saundra Brown Armstrong, who also granted a mdbdrmansfer the relateactions to the San
Jose DivisionSeeECF Nos. 52, 58. After being assignedite undersigned judge, the cases wer
consolidated pursuant the parties’ stipulatiorSeeECF No. 64 Plaintiffs filed a consolidated
complaint on September 23, 205&cECF No. 65, which Defendants jointly moved to dismiss,
seeECF No. 791In addition, Lucasfilm filed a separataotion to dismiss on October 17, 208ke
ECF No. 83The Court granted in part and denied intplae joint motion to dismiss and denied
Lucasfilm’s separate motion to dismiSeeECF No. 119.

On October 1, 2012, Plaintiffs filelmotion for class certificatio®eeECF No. 187. The
motion sought certification of a class of alltbé seven Defendants’ employees or, in the
alternative, a narrower classjast technical employees tife seven Defendants. After full
briefing and a hearing, the Court dethiclass certification on April 5, 2013eeECF No. 382. The

Court was concerned that Riaffs’ documentary evidence and empirical analysis were
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insufficient to determine that common questipnsdominated over indidual questions with
respect to the issue of antitrust imp&se idat 33. Moreover, the Couekpressed concern that

there was insufficient analysis in the clasgifteation motion regardinghe class of technical

employeesld. at 29. The Court afforded Plaintiffs leatceamend to address the Court’s concerns

See idat 52.

On May 10, 2013, Plaintiffs filed their amendeass certificatin motion, seeking to
certify only the narrower aks of technical employe&3eeECF No. 418. Defendants filed their
opposition on June 21, 2013, ECF No. 439, and Plaintiffs filed their reply on July 12, 2013, E(
No. 455. The hearing on the amended motion was set for August 5, 2013.

On July 12 and 30, 2013, after class certifmatiad been initiallgenied and while an
amended motion was pending, Plaintiffs settled Witkar, Lucasfilm, and Intuit (hereatfter,
“Settled Defendants”SeeECF Nos. 453, 489. Plaintiffs filedraotion for preliminary approval of
the settlements with Settled Defendants on September 21,2843CF No. 501. No opposition
to the motion was filed, and the Court grahtlee motion on October 30, 2013, following a hearin
on October 21, 201%eeECF No. 540. The Court held a fairness hearing on May 1, 2014, ECH
No. 913, and granted final approval of thelsetents and accompanying requests for attorneys’
fees, costs, and incentive awards ovee fibjections on May 16, 2014, ECF Nos. 915-16.
Judgment was entered as to the Sefiletendants on June 20, 2014. ECF No. 947.

After the Settled Defendants settled, this Gaertified a class akchnical employees of
the seven Defendants (hereafter, “the Class'Potober 25, 2013 in an 86-page order granting
Plaintiffs’ amended @lss certification motior5eeECF No. 532. The Remaining Defendants
petitioned the Ninth Circuit to reaw that order under Federal RaleCivil Procedure 23(f). After
full briefing, including the filingof an amicus brief by the National and California Chambers of
Commerce and the National Association of Mactiiring urging the Ninth Circuit to grant
review, the Ninth Circuit daed review on January 15, 208eeECF No. 594.

Meanwhile, in this Court, the Remaining Defendants filed a total of five motions for

summary judgment and filed motiotesstrike and to exclude thestimony of Plaintiffs’ principal
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expert on antitrust impact and damages, Dr. Edwaamer, who opined that the total damages t
the Class exceeded $3 billion in wages Class neesnbould have earned in the absence of the
anti-solicitation agreementsThe Court denied the motions for summary judgment on March 28
2014, and on April 4, 2014, denied the motion to exclddd.eamer and denied in large part the
motion to strike Dr. Leamer’s testimony. ECF Nos. 777, 788.

On April 24, 2014, counsel for Plaintiffs andunsel for Remaining Defendants sent a join
letter to the Court indicating thtey had reached a settleme3geECF No. 900. This settlement
was reached two weeks before the Final Preiasiference and one month before the trial was s
to commencé.Upon receipt of the joirletter, the Courtacated the trial date and pretrial
deadlines and set a schedule for preliminary appr@esECF No. 904. Shortly after counsel sent
the letter, the media disclosed the total amount of the settleamehthis Courteceived three
letters from individuals, not aluding Devine, objecting to theqposed settlement in response to
media reports of the settlement amouBeeECF No. 914. On May 22, 2014, in accordance with
this Court’s schedule, Plaintiffs filatieir Motion for Preliminary ApprovabeeECF No. 920.
Devine filed an Opposition on June 5, 2d18eeECF No. 934. Plaintiffs filed a Reply on June 12
2014.SeeECF No. 938. The Court held a hearing on June 19, ZHeECF No. 948. After the
hearing, the Court received dtér from a Class member in opposition to the proposed settleme

and two letters from Class members in support of the proposed settlSeefCF Nos. 949-51.

! Dr. Leamer was subject to vigars attack in the iriil class certificatiomotion, and this Court
agreed with some of Defendantsintentions with respect to Oreamer and thus rejected the
initial class certification motior5eeECF No. 382 at 33-43.

2 Defendants’ motions in limine, Plaintiffs’ rtion to exclude testimony from certain experts,
Defendants’ motion to excludestamony from certain experts,naotion to determine whether the
per se or rule of reason anasyapplied, and a motion to compeére pending at the time the
settlement was reached.

3 Plaintiffs in the instant Motion represent thab of the letters are from non-Class members ang
that the third letter is fm a Class member who mig withdrawing his objectiorseeECF No.

920 at 18 n.11. The objection has not beehdvawn at the timef this Order.

* Devine stated in his Oppositioratithe Opposition was designedstgpersede a letter that he hag
previously sent to the CoueeECF No. at 934 n.2. The Court did not receive any letter from
Devine. Accordingly, the Court has cathered only Devine’s Opposition.
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. LEGAL STANDARD

The Court must review the fairness of clasgon settlements underd&ral Rule of Civil
Procedure 23(e). The Rule states that “[t]he claigssies, or defenses of a certified class may bg
settled, voluntarily dismissed, or compromised awiiy the court’s approvdl The Rule requires

the Court to “direct notice ia reasonable manner to allsdamembers who would be bound by th

112

proposal” and further states thba settlement “would bind class members, the court may approve
it only after a hearing and on fimdj that it is fair, reasonabland adequate.” Fed. R. Civ. P.
23(e)(1)-(2). The principal purpose of the Coustpervision of class &on settlements is to
ensure “the agreement is not the produdtanid or overreaching by, or collusion between, the
negotiating parties.Officers for Justice v. Civil SerComm’n of City & Cnty. of S.F688 F.2d
615, 625 (9th Cir. 1982).

District courts have interpretdRule 23(e) to require a twoegt process for the approval of
class action settlements: “tkiurt first determines whetharproposed class action settlement
deserves preliminary approval and then, aftéiceas given to class members, whether final
approval is warrantedNat’| Rural Telecomms. Coop. v. DIRECTV, Ji&21 F.R.D. 523, 525
(C.D. Cal. 2004). At the final approval stages thinth Circuit has stat that “[a]ssessing a
settlement proposal requires thetdct court to balance a numbmrfactors: thestrength of the
plaintiffs’ case; the risk, expense, complexity, and likely duration of further litigation; the risk of
maintaining class action status thghout the trial; the amount offelré settlement; the extent of
discovery completed and the stage of the praogsdthe experience antews of counsel; the
presence of a governmental papant; and the reacn of the class members to the proposed
settlement.’Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp.150 F.3d 1011, 1026 (9th Cir. 1998).

In contrast to these wels&blished, non-exhaustive factéos final approval, there is
relatively scant appellate authority regardingstendard that a districourt must apply in
reviewing a settlement at tipeeliminary approval stage. 8@ district courts, echoing
commentators, have stated thatrblevant inquiry is whether the settlement “falls within the range

of possible approval” or “withithe range of reasonableneds.te Tableware Antitrust Litig 484
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F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1079 (N.D. Cal. 20059¢ alsdCordy v. USS-Posco Indudlo. 12-553, 2013
WL 4028627, at *3 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 1, 2013) (“Prelimary approval of a settlement and notice to
the proposed class is appropridtde proposed settlement appe#r be the product of serious,
informed, non-collusive negotiations, has no olgi deficiencies, does not improperly grant
preferential treatment to class repentatives or segments of thassl, and falls with the range of
possible approval.” (internal quotation marks thedl)). To undertake thanalysis, the Court
“must consider plaintiffs’ expected recovery lvadad against the value of the settlement offier.”
re Nat'| Football League Players’ Concussion Injury Liti§61 F. Supp. 2d 708, 714 (E.D. Pa.
2014) (internal quotation marks omitted).
lll.  DISCUSSION

Pursuant to the terms of the instant settlei@élass members who have not already optec
out and who do not opt out will relinquish theghts to file suit against the Remaining Defendan
for the claims at issue in this case. In eamie, Remaining Defendants will pay a total of $324.5
million, of which Plaintiffs’ counsel may seek tp25% (approximately $81 million) in attorneys’
fees, $1.2 million in costgnd $80,000 per class representativiadentive payments. In addition,
the settlement allows Remaining Defendants a peoreauction in the total amount they must pay
if more than 4% of Class memis opt out after receiving notie€lass members would receive ar
average of approximately $3,758om the instant settlementtiie Court were to grant all
requested deductions and #evere no further opt-oufs.

The Court finds the total settlement amofatis below the range of reasonableness. The

Court is concerned that Class members reciass on a proportional bia from the instant

> Plalntlffs also assert that admimeion costs for the settlement would be $160,000.

® Devine calculated that Class members waeteive an average of $3,573. The discrepancy
between this number and the Ctaicalculation may result from tHact that Devine’s calculation
does not account for the fact tlit7 individuals have already optedt of the Class. The Court’s
calculation resulted frormmubtracting the requested atteys’ fees ($81,125,000), costs
($1,200,000), incentive awards ($400,0Q0)d estimated administraii costs ($160,000) from the
settlement amount ($324,500,000) and dividingréseilting number bthe total number of
remalnlng class members (64,466).

”If the Court were to deny any portion of thguested fees, costs, or incentive payments, this
would increase individual Class mbers’ recovery. If less than 48bthe Class were to opt out,
that would also increase individuClass members’ recovery.
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settlement with Remaining Defendants than from the settlement with the Settled Defendants
ago, despite the fact that the edms progressed consistentlfthe Class’s favor since then.
Counsel’s sole explanation for this reduced figarénat there are weaksses in Plaintiffs’ case
such that the Class faces a substantial risioafrecovery. However, that risk existed and was
even greater when Plaintiffs settled with the IBdtDefendants a year ago, when class certificati
had been denied.

The Court begins by comparing the instattilement with Remaining Defendants to the
settlements with the Settled Defendants, in lightheffacts that existed at the time each settlems
was reached. The Court then discusses the rekteegths and weaknesses of Plaintiffs’ case tg
assess the reasonablenesthefinstant settlement.

A. Comparison to the Initial Settlements

1. Comparing the Settlement Amounts

The Court finds that the settlements witle Settled Defendants provide a useful
benchmark against which to analyze the reasonasdeof the instant settlement. The settlements
with the Settled Defendantsdi¢o a fund totaling $20 milliorSeeECF No. 915 at 3. In approving
the settlements, the Court relied upon the feaittime Settled Defendants employed 8% of Class
members and paid out 5% of the tdf¥hss compensation during the Class petsaECF No.

539 at 16:20-22 (Plaintiffs’ counsel's explanatadrthe preliminary approval hearing with the
Settled Defendants that the 5% figure “giv[es] yosense of how big a slice of the case this
settlement is relative to the rest of the case’lRdmaining Defendants wete settle at the same
(or higher) rate as the Settled Defendants, RanwiDefendants’ settlement fund would need to
total at least $380 million. This number results friwa fact that Remaining Defendants paid out
95% of the Class compensation during the Clagsghewhile Settled Defendants paid only 5% of
the Class compensatidiring the Class peridt.

At the hearing on the instant Motion, coungelRemaining Defendants suggested that th

8 One way to think about this is to set up #imple equation: 5/95 $20,000,000/x. This equation
asks the question of how much 95% wouldft¥6 were $20,000,000. Solving for x would result
in $380,000,000.
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relevant benchmark is not total Class compeasabut rather is total Class membership. This
would result in a benchmark figure for the Remaining Defendants of $230 million (92 divided
is 11.5; 11.5 times $20 million is $230 milliohjt a minimum, counsel suggested, the Court
should compare the settlement amount tangeaf $230 million to $380 million, within which the

instant settlement falls. The Couejects counsel’s suggion, which is contry to the record.

Counsel has provided no basis for why the nunob€lass members employed by each Defendant

is a relevant metric. To the coaty, the relevant ingoy has always been total Class compensatid
For example, in both of the settlements with$e¢tled Defendants and in the instant settlement,
the Plans of Allocation call for determining eantividual Class member’s pay out by dividing
the Class member’'s compensation during the Class peritieeltgtal Class compensation during
the Class periodECF No. 809 at 6 (noting that the denoator in the plan of allocation in the
settlements with the Settled Defendants is the “tufthse salaries paid to all approved Claimant
in class positions during the Class period”);Fado. 920 at 22 (same in the instant settlemases;
alsoECF No. 539 at 16:20-22 (Plaintiffs’ counsel'atetment that percent the total Class
compensation was relevant for benchmarking tktéesaents with the Settled Defendants to the
rest of the case). At no point in the record tiee percentage of Class membership employed by
each Defendant ever been the relevant factodétermining damages exposure. Accordingly, the
Court rejects the metric propes by counsel for Remaining Defendants. Using the Settled
Defendants’ settlements as a yardstick, the appropriate benchmark settlement for the Remair
Defendants would be at least $380 million, mitvan $50 million greater than what the instant
settlement provides.

Counsel for Remaining Defendants also suggk#iat benchmarkinggainst the initial
settlements would be inappropriate becausenthgnitude of the settlement numbers for
Remaining Defendants dwarfs the numbers at isstlee Settled Defendants’ settlements. This
argument is premised on the idea that Defersdahb caused more damage to the Class and wh

benefited more by suppressing a geegortion of class compensatishould have to pay less thar

o Again, 8/92 = $20,000,000/x would lead to x = $230,000,000.
8
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Defendants who caused less damage and who benefited less from the allegedly wrongful cor
This argument is unpersuasive. Remaining Defesdaet alleged to have received 95% of the
benefit of the anti-solicitation agreements and to have caused 95% of the harm suffered by th
Class in terms of lost compensation. TherefB@mnaining Defendants shouidve to pay at least
95% of the damages, which, under thetamt settlement, they would not.

The Court also notes that had Plaintiffs @iéad at trial on their more than $3 billion
damages claim, antitrust law provides for automatic trebdiegl5 U.S.C. § 15(a), so the total
damages award could potentially have exce&$®ehillion. While the Ninth Circuit has not
determined whether settlement amounts in antitases must be compared to the single damag
award requested by Plaintiffs or thetomatically trebled damages amowsee Rodriguez v. W.
Publ'g Corp, 563 F.3d 948, 964-65 (9th Cir. 2009), the inst®itlement would lead to a total
recovery of 11.29% of the single damages propoge@laintiffs’ expert or 3.76% of the treble
damages. Specifically, Dr. Leamer has calculétedotal damages to the Class resulting from
Defendants’ allegedly unlawful conduct as $3.05 billidaeECF No. 856-10. If the Court
approves the instant settlements, the total se¢thés with all Defendants would be $344.5 million
This total would amount to 11.29% of the sengamages that Dr. Leamer opines the Class
suffered or 3.76% if Dr. Leamertlamages figure had been trebled.

2. Relative Procedural Posture

The discount that Remaining Defendants have received vis-a-vis the Settled Defendar
particularly troubling in light othe changes in the procedural jpws of the case between the two
settlements, changes that the Court would edxjoehave increased, rather than decreased,
Plaintiffs’ bargaining power. Spdmally, at the time the Settled Bendants settled, Plaintiffs were
at a particularly weak point itmeir case. Though Plaintiffs hi@urvived Defendants’ motion to
dismiss, Plaintiffs’ motion for class certificah had been denied bait without prejudice.

Plaintiffs had re-briefed the da certification motion, but had nask certificatiomuling in their
favor at the time they settledth the Settled Defendants.ttie Court ultimately granted

certification, Plaintiffs also di not know whether the Ninth Cirit would grant Federal Rule of
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Civil Procedure 23(f) review anm@verse the certification. Accordjly, at that point, Defendants
had significant leverage.

In contrast, the procedural posture of theecasung dramatically in Plaintiffs’ favor after
the initial settlements wereaehed. Specifically, the Court aéigd the Class over the vigorous
objections of Defendants. In the 86-page ordantyng class certification, the Court repeatedly
referred to Plaintiffs’ evidence as “substantialtidextensive,” and the Court stated that it “could
not identify a case at the classtderation stage with the level afocumentary evidence Plaintiffs
have presented in the instant case.” ECF384d. at 69. Thereafter, the Ninth Circuit denied
Defendants’ request to reviewetklass certification der under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure
23(f). This Court also deniddefendants’ five motions faummary judgment and denied
Defendants’ motion to exclude Ri&ifs’ principal expert on arttiust impact and damages. The
instant settlement was reached a mere two weekse the final pretrial conference and one
month before a trial at which damaging evidengmrding Defendants would have been presentg

In sum, Plaintiffs were in a much strongesition at the time dhe instant settlement—
after the Class had been certifi@ppellate review of class tiécation had been denied, and
Defendants’ dispositive motions and motion talage Dr. Leamer’s testimony had been denied-
than they were at the time of the settlemerith the Settled Defendants, when class certification
had been denied. This shift in the procedpature, which the Court would expect to have
increased Plaintiffs’ bargaining power, makes the more recent settlements for a proportionally
lower amount even more troubling.

B. Strength of Plaintiffs’ Case

The Court now turns to the strength of Pléis’ case against the Remaining Defendants t
evaluate the reasonableseof the settlement.

At the hearing on the instant Motion, Plaintif®unsel contended that one of the reasong
the instant settlement was propanally lower than the prewus settlements is that the
documentary evidence against the Settled Defersdpatticularly, Lucasfilm and Pixar) is more

compelling than the documentary evidence against the Remaining Defendants. As an initial n
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the Court notes that relevant evidence regarthe Settled Defendants would be admissible at a
trial against Remaining Defendartiecause Plaintiffs allege amerarching conspiracy that
included all Defendants. Accordingly, evidence regeg the role of Lucasfilm and Pixar in the
creation of and the intendetfext of the overarching conspiracy would be admissible.

Nonetheless, the Court notes that Plaintfks correct that there are particularly clear
statements from Lucasfilm and Pixar executivegmrding the nature and goals of the alleged
conspiracy. Specifically, Edward @aull (Pixar President) concedéedhis deposition that anti-
solicitation agreements werephace because solicitati “messes up the pay structure.” ECF No.
431-9 at 81. Similarly, George Lucas (former LugasChairman of the Board and CEO) stated,
“we cannot get into a bidding waiitiv other companies because we don’t have the margins for
sort of thing.” ECF No. 749-23 at 9.

However, there is equally compelling eviderthat comes from the documents of the
Remaining Defendants. This is particularly tfoeGoogle and Apple, the executives of which
extensively discussed and enforced the antiisaticn agreements. Specifically, as discussed in
extensive detail in this Court’s previous aigleSteve Jobs (Co-Founder, Former Chairman, and
Former CEO of Apple, Former CEO of PixaEric Schmidt (Google Executive Chairman,
Member of the Board of Directors, and former CEO), and Bill Campbell (Chairman of Intuit B¢
of Directors, Co-Lead Director of Apple, andvasbr to Google) were keplayers in creating and
enforcing the anti-solicitation agreements. Twurt now turns to the evidence against the
Remaining Defendants that the findefadt is likely to find compelling.

1. Evidence Related to Apple

There is substantial and compelling evidethat Steve Jobs (Co-Founder, Former
Chairman, and Former CEO of Apple, Former CE®@iagr) was a, if not the, central figure in the|
alleged conspiracy. Several witnesses, in their depositions, testified to Mr. Jobs’ role in the an
solicitation agreements. For example, Eric SchifGoogle Executive Chairman, Member of the
Board of Directors, and former Cg stated that Mr. Jobs “belied that you should not be hiring

each others’, you know, technical p&dpand that “it was inappropriata [Mr. Jobs’] view for us
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to be calling in and hiring people.” ECF No. 819-12 at 77. Edward Catmull (Pixar President) s
that Mr. Jobs “was very adamant about gcting his employee force.” ECF No. 431-9 at 97.
Sergey Brin (Google Co-Founder)tiéed that “I thinkMr. Jobs’ view was that people shouldn’t
piss him off. And I think thathings that pissed him folvere—would be hiring, you know—
whatever.” ECF No. 639-1 at 11Phere would thus be ample egitte Mr. Jobs was involved in
expanding the original anti-solicitation agreemeetween Lucasfilm and Pixar to the other

Defendants in this case. After the agreementg wrtended, Mr. Jobs played a central role in

enforcing these agreements. Four particular segsidénce are likely to be compelling to the factt

finder.

First, after hearing that Google w#&rying to recruit employedsom Apple’s Safari team,
Mr. Jobs threatened Mr. Brinading, as Mr. Brin recounted,f'you hire a single one of these
people that means walECF No. 833-13° In an email to Google’s Executive Management Tear]
as well as Bill Campbell (Chairman of Intuit BoadDirectors, Co-Lead Dector of Apple, and
advisor to Google), Mr. Brin advide“lets [sic] not make any newffers or contact new people at
Apple until we have htha chance to discusdd. Mr. Campbell then wrote to Mr. Jobs: “Eric
[Schmidt] told me that he got directly involv@nd firmly stopped all efforts to recruit anyone
from Apple.” ECF No. 746-5. As Mr. Brin teBed in his deposition, “Eric made a—you know,
a—you know, at least some kind of—had a conversatiith Bill to relateto Steve to calm him
down.” ECF No. 639-1 at 61. As Mr. Schmidt pit'Steve was unhappy, and Steve’s unhappine
absolutely influenced the change we madesaruiting practice.” ECINo. 819-12 at 21. Danielle
Lambert (Apple’s head of HumdResources) reciprocated to ntain Apple’s end of the anti-
solicitation agreements,structing Apple recruits: “Please add Google to your ‘hands-off’ list.
We recently agreed not to recruit from one anosieeif you hear of any recruiting they are doing

against us, please be sure to let me know.” ECF No. 746-15.

19 0n the same day, Mr. Campbell sent an email to Mr. Brin and to Larry Page (Google Co-
Founder) stating, “Steve just callete again and is pissed that are still recruiting his browser
guy.” ECF No. 428-13. Mr. Page pmnded “[h]e called a few minut@go and demanded to talk
to me.”Id.
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Secondother Defendants’ CEOs maintained th&-aalicitation agreements out of fear of
and deference to Mr. Jobs. Forexle, in 2005, when considerindpether to enter into an anti-
solicitation agreement witApple, Bruce Chizen (former Adol§gEO), expressed concerns about
the loss of “top talent” if Adobdid not enter into an anti-soitation agreement with Apple,
stating, “if | tell Steve it's openemson (other than senior managens will deliberately poach
Adobe just to prove a point. Knowing Steve, h go after some of our top Mac talent like Chris
Cox and he will do it in a way in which they wile enticed to come (extraordinary packages and
Steve wooing).** ECF No. 297-15.

This was the genesis of the Apple-Ada@mreement. Specifically, after Mr. Jobs
complained to Mr. Chizen on May 26, 2005 tAdbbe was recruiting Apple employees, ECF No
291-17, Mr. Chizen responded by sayi “| thought we agreed ntd recruit any senior level
employees . . . . | would propose weep it that way. Open to disss. It would be good to agree.”

Id. Mr. Jobs was not satisfied, areplied by threatening to seAgple recruiters after Adobe’s

employees: “OK, I'll tell our recruiters that thaye free to approach any Adobe employee who i$

not a Sr. Director or VP. Am | understanding your position correctty™r. Chizen immediately
gave in: “I'd rather agree NOT to actively sdliany employee from either company . . . . If you
are in agreement | will let my folks knowld. (emphasis in original). The next day, Theresa
Townsley (Adobe Vice President Human Resouraaspunced to her recting team, “Bruce and
Steve Jobs have an agreement that we are not to solicit ANY Apple employees, and vice vers
ECF No. 291-18 (emphasis in original). Adobe tpé&ated Apple on its “[clompanies that are off
limits” list, which instructed Alobe employees not to coldlicapple employees. ECF No. 291-11.
Google took even more drastic actions isp@nse to Mr. Jobs. For example, when a
recruiter from Google’s engieeng team contacted arpple employee in 2007, Mr. Jobs
forwarded the message to Mr. Schmidt and stédtesdould be very pleased if your recruiting
department would stop doingsti ECF No. 291-23. Googleesponded by making a “public

example” out of the recruiter and “terminag] [the recruiterjwithin the hour.”ld. The aim of this

H Mr. Jobs successfully expandie anti-solicitation agreemesnto Macromedia, a company
acquired by Adobe, both before and afieiobe’s acquisition of Macromedia.
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public spectacle was to “(hopefullgyevent future occurrencedd. Once the recruiter was
terminated, Mr. Schmidt emailed Mr. Jobs, apologzand informing Mr. Jobs that the recruiter
had been terminated. Mr. Jobs forwarded $thmidt's email to an Apple human resources
official and stated melg “:).” ECF No. 746-9.

A year prior to this termination, Googsemilarly took seriouslyMr. Jobs’ concerns.
Specifically, in 2006, Mr. Jobs emailed Mr. Schrmadd said, “I am told that Googles [sic] new
cell phone software group is relentlessly recruitinguniPod group. If this is indeed true, can yol
put a stop to it?” ECF No. 291-24 3. After Mr. Schmidt forwaled this to Human Resources
professionals at Google, Arnn@eshuri (Google Recruiting Direx) prepared a detailed report
stating that an extensive investigation didfirad a breach of the anti-solicitation agreement.

Similarly, in 2006, Google scrapped plans temp Google engineering center in Paris
after a Google executvemailed Mr. Jobs to ask eftfher Google could hire thréarmerApple
engineers to work at the prasgive facility, and Mr. Jobs rpended “[w]e’d strongly prefer that
you not hire these guys.” ECF No. 814-2. The whoteraction began witGoogle’s request to
Steve Jobs for permission to hire Jean-Mariédtiuan Apple engineeilhe record is not clear
whether Mr. Hullot was a current or formepple employee. A Google executive contacted Stev
Jobs to ask whether Google could make an edfédr. Hullot, and Mr. Jobs did not timely respong
to the Google executive’s request. At this paihé Google executive turned to Intuit’s Board
Chairman Bill Campbell as a potential ambassador from Google to Mr. Jobs. Specifically, the
Google executive noted that Mr. Campbell “istba board at Apple an@doogle, so Steve will
probably return his call.” ECF No. 428-6. Thergaday that Mr. Campbell reached out to Mr.
Jobs, Mr. Jobs responded to the Google execigeaking more information on what exactly the
Apple engineer would be workingCF No. 428-9. Once Mr. Jobs weetisfied, he stated that the
hire “would be fine with me.1d. However, two weeks latewhen Mr. Hullot and a Google
executive sought Mr. Jobs’ permission to hire fouMr. Hullot’'s former Apple colleagues (three
were former Apple employees and one had givatice of impending departure from Apple), Mr.

Jobs promptly responded, indicating thathires would not be acctgble. ECF No. 428-9.
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Google promptly scrapped the plan, and the Gmegkcutive responded dedatially to Mr. Jobs,
stating, “Steve, Based on your strong preferenaewie not hire the eRpple engineers, Jean-
Marie and | decided not to operGaogle Paris engineering centdd’ The Google executive also
forwarded the email thread to Mr. Brin,rta Page (Google Co-Founder), and Mr. Camplbell.

Third, Mr. Jobs attempted (unsuccessfullyeigpand the anti-solicitation agreements to
Palm, even threatening litigation. Specifically,.Mobs called Edward Colligan (former President
and CEO of Palm) to ask Mr. Cglan to enter into an anti-satiation agreement and threatened
patent litigation against PalmhPalm refused to do s&CF No. 293 {{ 6-8. Mr. Colligan
responded via email, and told Mr. Jobs that Mhs] “proposal that we agree that neither compal
will hire the other’'s employees, regardless of tiahviidual’s desires, is not only wrong, it is likely
illegal.” Id. at 4-5. Mr. Colligan went on to say thatye can’t dictate where someone will work,
nor should we try. | can’t deny pdepvho elect to pursutheir livelihood aPalm the right to do
so simply because they now work for Appledd wouldn’t want you to do that to current Palm
employees.'ld. at 5. Finally, Mr. Colligan wrote that “[t]hreatening Palm with a patent lawsuit i
response to a decision by one employee to legpdeAs just out of line. A lawsuit would not
serve either of our interesemd will not stop employees fromigrating between our companies
. ... We will both just end up paying a lot of lawyers a lot of money 4t 5-6.Mr. Jobs wrote
the following back to Mr. Colligan: “fis is not satisfactory to Appleld. at 8. Mr. Jobs went on
to write that “I'm sure you realize the asymnyatr the financial resurces of our respective
companies when you say: ‘we will both jusideup paying a lot of lawyers a lot of moneyd:

Mr. Jobs concluded: “My advice is take a look at our pateportfolio before you make a final
decision here.1d.

Fourth, Apple’s documents provide strong supportRtaintiffs’ theory of impact, namely
that rigid wage structures andemal equity concerns wouldVeled Defendants to engage in
structural changes to compensation structuresitigate the competitive threat that solicitation
would have posed. Apple’s compensation data shows that, for each year in the Class period,

had a “job structure system,” which includestegorizing and compensating its workforce
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according to a discrete set of caang-wide job levels assignedadl salaried employees and four
associated sets of base salary ranges apfditabTop,” “Major,” “National,” and “Small”
geographic markets. ECF No. 745-7 at 148553; ECF N0.517-16 11 6, 10 & Ex. B. Every
salary range had a “min,” “mid,” and “max” figur8ee id Apple also created a Human Resource
and recruiting tool called “Mernti,” which was an internal sysn for tracking employee records
and performance, and required managers toegeatployees at one of four pre-set levBEeECF
No. 749-6 at 142-43, 145-46; ECF No. 749at52-53; ECF No. 749-1& 33. As explained by
Tony Fadell (former Apple Senior Vice PresideRtd Division, and advisor to Steve Jobs),
Merlin “would say, this is the empyee, this is the level, here are the salary ranges, and throug
that tool we were then—we understood wihat boundaries were.” ECF No. 749-11 at 53. Going
outside these prescribed “guideds” also required extra appréVvaCF No. 749-7 at 217; ECF No.
749-11 at 53 (“And if we were to go outside chththen we would have to pull in a bunch of
people to then approve anythiagtside of that range.”).

Concerns about internal equity also peated Apple’'s compensation program. Steven
Burmeister (Apple Seniddirector of Compensation) testifleéhat internal equity—which Mr.
Burmeister defined as the nani of whether an employee’s coemnsation is “fair based on the
individual’'s contribution relve to the other employe&s your group, or across your
organization”—inheres in some, “if not all,” dfe guidelines that managers consider in
determining starting salaries. ECF No. 74&tB51-64; ECF No. 753-12. In fact, as explained by
Patrick Burke (former Apple Technical Recruigand Staffing Manager), when hiring a new
employee at Apple, “compar[ing] the candidatethe other people on the team they would join
“was the biggest determining factor on whatary we gave.ECF No. 745-6 at 279.

2. Evidence Related to Google

The evidence against Google is equally compelling. Email evidence reveals that Eric
Schmidt (Google Executive ChairmaMember of the Board of Directors, and former CEO)
terminated at least two recruiters for violatiamisnti-solicitation agreeents, and threatened to

terminate more. As discussed above, thereréctevidence that Mr. Schmidt terminated a
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recruiter at Steve Jobs’ behedeathe recruiter attempted to solicit an Apple employee. Moreower,

in an email to Bill Campbell (Chairman of Intuit &al of Directors, Co-Lead Director of Apple,
and advisor to Google), Mr. Schmiddicated that he directed@r-cause termination of another
Google recruiter, who had attempted to reauiexecutive of eBayyhich was on Google’s do-
not-cold-call list. ECF No. 814-14. Finally, asdissed in more detail below, Mr. Schmidt
informed Paul Otellini (CEO of Intel and Membarthe Google Board ddirectors) that Mr.
Schmidt would terminate any recruit®ho recruited Itel employees.

Furthermore, Google maintained a formab“Not Call” list, whid grouped together
Apple, Intel, and Intiht and was approved by top executivEE&F No. 291-28. The list also
included other companies, such as Genentech, Paypal, anda:Bagraft of the “Do Not Call”
list was presented to Google’'s Executive Management Group, a committee consisting of Goo
senior executives, including M&chmidt, Larry Page (Googl&o-Founder), Sergey Brin (Google
Co-Founder), and Shona Brown (former Google &eviice President of Business Operations).
ECF No. 291-26. Mr. Schmidt approved the I&te id, see als&ECF No. 291-27 (email from Mr.
Schmidt stating: “This looks very good.”). Mareer, there is evidence that Google executives
knew that the anti-solicitation agreements coahlttlito legal troubles, boevertheless proceeded
with the agreements. When Ms. Brown asked $hmidt whether he had any concerns with
sharing information regarding the “Do Not Cdikt with Google’s competitors, Mr. Schmidt
responded that he preferred that it be sharedoally[,] since | don’t wanto create a paper trail
over which we can be sued later?” ECF Ndl-29. Ms. Brown responded: “makes sense to do
orally. i agree.ld.

Google’s response to competition from Hamek also demonstrates the impact of the
alleged conspiracy. Google had long been eamed about Facebook hiring’s effect on retention.
For example, in an email to top Google exe@dj\Wr. Brin in 2007 stated that “the facebook
phenomenon creates a real retention problemP BG. 814-4. A month later, Mr. Brin announceq
a policy of making counteroffersithin one hour to any Googkmployee who received an offer

from Facebook. ECF No. 963-2.
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In March 2008, Arnnon Geshuri (Google Recruiting Director) discovered that non-party
Facebook had been cold calling into Google’s Bidiability Engineering (“SRE”) team. Mr.
Geshuri’s first response wasgoggest contacting Sheryl SandbéZfief Operating Officer for
non-party Facebook) in an effort to “ask her to pstop to the targeted sourcing effort directed a|
our SRE team” and “to consider establishing a mufdo Not Call’ agreemetrthat specifies that
we will not cold-call into eacbther.” ECF No. 963-3. Mr. Ghari also suggested “look[ing]
internally and review[ing] the attion rate for the SRE group,” ¢iag, “[w]e may want to consider
additional individual reention incentives dieam incentiveso keep attrition abbw as possible in
SRE.”Id. (emphasis added). Finally, alternative suggestion was‘{g]tart an aggressive
campaign to call into their company and go rafiteir folks—no holds barred. We would be
unrelenting and a force of naturdéd’ In response, Bill Campbell (Chairman of Intuit Board of
Directors, Co-Lead Director ofgple, and advisor to Google), in his capacity as an advisor to
Google, suggested “Who should contact Sheryhfidarg] (or Mark [Zuckerberg]) to get a cease
fire? We have to get a trucdd. Facebook refused.

In 2010, Google altered its salastyucture with a “Big Bang” in response to Facebook’s
hiring, which provides additional support for Pldffstitheory of antitrust impact. Specifically,
after a period in which Googlest a significant number @&mployees to Facebook, Google began
to study Facebook’s solicitation of Google@ayees. ECF No. 190 § 109. One month after
beginning this study, Google announdisd'Big Bang,” which involved an increase to the base
salary ofall of its salaried employees by 10% grdvided an immediate cash bonus of $1,000 tg
all employees. ECF No. 296-18. Laszlo Bock (Go@&geior Vice Presidemtf People Operations)
explained that the rationale for the Big Bang inctlid@&) being “responsive tasing attrition;” (2)
supporting higher retention because “higher salgree®rate higher fixed costs;” and (3) being
“very strategic because start-ugn’'t have the cash flow to matcand big companies are (a) too
worried about internal equity and scalability totts and (b) don’t have the margins to do this.”

ECF No. 296-20.
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Other Google documents provide further evidevfdelaintiffs’ theory of antitrust impact.
For example, Google’s Chief Culture Officer statiegt “[c]old calling into companies to recruit is
to be expected unless they’re on our ‘daall’ list.” ECF No. 29141. Moreover, Google found
that although referrals were thedast source of hires, “agensiand passively sourced candidates
offer[ed] the highest yield.” ECF No. 780-8. Tégread of information between employees had
there been active solicitations—which is centoalPlaintiffs’ theory of impact—is also
demonstrated in Google’s evidence. For examnphe Google employee states that “[i]t's
impossible to keep something like this a sedrbe people getting counteffers talk, not just to
Googlers and ex-Googlers, but also to the cditgoe where they received their offers (in the
hopes of improving them), and those competitdkstta, using it as a tool to recruit more
Googlers.” ECF No. 296-23.

The wage structure and internal equity concetrfSoogle also support Plaintiffs’ theory of
impact. Google had many job families, many gradgsin job families, ad many job titles within
gradesSee, e.g.ECF No. 298-7, ECF No. 298-8ee alsdCisneros Decl., Ex. S (Brown Depo.) at
74-76 (discussing salary rangesizied by Google); ECF No. 780-& 25-26 (testifying that
Google’s 2007 salary ranges hgeherally the same structuae the 2004 salary ranges).
Throughout the Class period, Google utilized isatanges and pay bands with minima and
maxima and either means or medians. ECF No. 958-19e6BCF No. 427-3 at 15-17. As
explained by Shona Brown (former Google SeMme President, Business Operations), “if you
discussed a specific role [at Goelylyou could understand that role was at a specific level on a
certain job ladder.” ECF No. 427-3 at 27-28;FER0. 745-11. Frank Wagner (Google Director of
Compensation) testified that bheuld locate the targstlary range for jobs at Google through an
internal company websit&eeECF No. 780-4 at 31-32 (“Q: Anflyou wanted to identify what
the target salary would be for a certain job with certain grade, could you go online or go to
some place . . . and pull up what that was for jtatamily and that grade? . . . A: Yes.”).
Moreover, Google considered intatrequity to be an importagbal. Google ulized a salary

algorithm in part for the purpose §€]nsur[ing] internal equitypy managing salaries within a
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reasonable range.” ECF No. 814-19. Furthermore, Isec@oogle “strive[d] to achieve fairness in
overall salary distribution,” “high performers with low salaries [would] get larger percentage
increases than high performers whilgh salaries.” ECF No. 817-1 at 15.

In addition, Google analyzed and comparee@dsity compensation t&pple, Intel, Adobe,
and Intuit, among other companies, each of which it designated as a “peer company” based ¢
meeting criteria such as beiaghigh-tech company,” a “high-gwth company,” and a “key labor
market competitor.” ECF No. 773-1. In 2007, baseplart on an analysis of Google as compared
to its peer companies, Mr. Bk and Dave Rolefson (Google BEyuCompensation Manager) wrote
that “[o]ur biggest labor markebmpetitors are significantlgxceeding their own guidelines to
beat Google for talentld.

Finally, Google’s own documents underminefé@mlants’ principal theory of lack of
antitrust impact, that compensation decisionsi be one off and not classwide. Alan Eustace
(Google Senior Vice President) commented orceams regarding competition for workers and
Google’s approach to counteroffdrg noting that, “it sometimes rkas sense to make changes in
compensation, even if it introduces discontinuitregour current comp, to save your best people
and send a message to the hiring companynteditfight for our best people.” ECF No. 296-23.
Because recruiting “a few really good people” cankpire “many, many othie [to] follow,” Mr.
Eustace concluded, “[y]Jou can't afford to &eich target for other companie&d! According to
him, the “long-term . . . right approf is not to deal with these sittions as one-off's but to have &
systematic approacto compensation that makes it verifidult for anyone to get a better offer.”
Id. (emphasis added).

Google’s impact on the labor market beftre anti-solicitation agreements was best
summarized by Meg Whitman (former CEO of eBay) who called Mr. Schmidt “to talk about
[Google’s] hiring practices.” ECRo. 814-15. As Eric Schmidt toldoogle’s senior executives,
Ms. Whitman said “Google is the talk of the egllbecause [you] are driving up salaries across t
board.”ld. A year after this convergan, Google added eBay to de-not-cold-call list. ECF No.

291-28.
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3. Evidence Related to Intel

There is also compelling evadce against Intel. Googleacted to requests regarding
enforcement of the anti-solicttan agreement made by Intelemutives similarly to Google’s
reaction to Steve Jobs’ request to enforce theeagents discussed above. For example, after Pqul
Otellini (CEO of Intel and Member of the GoedBoard of Directors) received an internal
complaint regarding Google’s successful raangi efforts of Intel’s technical employees on
September 26, 2007, ECF No. 188-8 (“Paul, | ammbpsio many people to Google . . .. We are
countering but thought you shoulddw.”), Mr. Otellini forwardel the email to Eric Schmidt
(Google Executive Chairman, Member of the Baafr®irectors, and former CEO) and stated
“Eric, can you pls help here??®l. Mr. Schmidt obliged and forwarded the email to his recruiting
team, who prepared a report for Mr. SchnaidtGoogle’s activities. ECF No. 291-34. The next
day, Mr. Schmidt replied to Mr. Otellini, “If werfd that a recruiter calledto Intel, we will
terminate the recruiter,” the same remedy affortdedolations of the Apple-Google agreement.
ECF No. 531 at 37. In another email to Mr. Schigridr. Otellini stated, “Sorry to bother you
again on this topic, but my gugse very troubled by Google contingito recruit our key players.”
SeeECF No. 428-8.

Moreover, Mr. Otellini was aware that thetiasolicitation agreement could be legally
troublesome. Specifically, Mr. Otatii stated in an email to arn@r Intel executiveegarding the
Google-Intel agreement: “Let me clarify. WWlave nothing signed. We have a handshake ‘no
recruit’ between eric and myself. | would not like this broadly knowa.”

Furthermore, there is evidence that Mr. Otelimew of the anti-solicitation agreements to
which Intel was not a party. Spgcally, both Sergey Brif{Google Co-Founder) and Mr. Schmidt
of Google testified that they would have tdld. Otellini that Google had an anti-solicitation
agreement with Apple. ECF No. 639-1 at 74:15 (“I'm sure thativaeld have mentioned it[.]");
ECF No. 819-12 at 60 (“I'm sure | spoke with Pabbut this at some poifit Intel’'s own expert
testified that Mr. Otellini was likely aware of Gdets other bilateral agements by virtue of Mr.

Otellini's membership on Googkeboard. ECF No. 771 at 4. Tret that Intel was added to
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Google’s do-not-cold-call list othe same day that Apple was added further suggests Intel’s
participation in an overarching conspiracy. ECF No. 291-28.

Additionally, notwithstanding the fact thattéh and Google were competitors for talent,
Mr. Otellini “lifted from Google” a Google document discussing the bonus plans of peer
companies including Apple and Intel. CisneraD, Ex. 463. True competitors for talent would
not likely share such sensitive bonus information absent agreements not to compete.

Moreover, key documents related to antitrugtact also implicate Intel. Specifically, Intel
recognized the importance of cold calling andestan its “Complete Guide to Sourcing” that
“[Cold] [c]alling candidates is onef the most efficient and effeége ways to recruit.” ECF No.
296-22. Intel also benchmarked compensation agaihsr “tech companies generally considereg
comparable to Intel,” which Intel defined @a$[b]lend of semiconductor, software, networking,
communications, and diversifimdmputer companies.” ECF No. 754-2. According to Intel, in
2007, these comparable companies included Apple and Géigltiese documents suggest, as
Plaintiffs contend, that the argolicitation agreements led towwttural, rather than individual
depression, of Class members’ wages.

Furthermore, Intel had a “compensation structugh job grades and job classifications.
SeeECF No. 745-13 at 73 (“[W]e break jobs irdne of three categories—job families, we call
them—R&D, tech, and nontech, there’s a lot mare.”). The company assigned employees to a
grade level based on their skillschexperience. ECF No. 745-11 at 88e alsd&ECF No. 749-17 at
45 (explaining that everyone at Ihie assigned a “classificatiorsimilar to a job grade). Intel
standardized its salary ranges throughout the company; each range applied to multiple jobs,
most jobs spanned multiple salary gradgSF No. 745-16 at 59. Intel further broke down its
salary ranges into quartiles, and compensatidntel followed “a bell-arve distribution, where
most of the employees are in the middle quartded,a much smaller percentage are in the bottg
and top quartiles.ld. at 62-63.

Intel also used a software tool to praviguidance to managers about an employee’s pay

range which would also take into account markétrence ranges and merit. ECF No. 758-9. As
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explained by Randall Goodwin (Intel TechngyoDevelopment Manager), “[i]f the tool
recommended something and we thought we wanotethke a proposed change that was outsidg
its guidelines, we would write some justificati” ECF No. 749-15 at 52. i@ilarly, Intel regularly
ran reports showing the salange distribution of its ephoyees. ECF No. 749-16 at 64.

The evidence also supports the rigidity dklis wage structure. For example, in a 2004
Human Resources presentation, Intel statas #ithough “[clompensation differentiation is
desired by Intel’'s Meritocracy philosophy,” “shatd long term high perforer differentiation is
guestionable.” ECF No. 758-10 at 13. Indeed, Intetsithat “[l]ack of diffeentiation has existed
historically based on aanalysis of '99 data.ld. at 19. As key “[v]ulnerability [c]hallenges,” Intel
identifies: (1) “m]anageréin)ability to distinguish at [flocal”—"actual merit increases are
significantly reduced from system generated in@sds[lJong term threato retention of key
players”; (2) {l]ittle to no actual pay differentiation for HPghigh performers]’; and (3) “[n]o
explicit strategy to differentiateld. at 24 (emphasis added).

In addition, Intel used internalyuity “to determine wage rates for new hires and current
employees that correspond to each job’s relatalae to Intel.” ECF No. 749-16 at 210-11; ECF
No. 961-5. To assist in that process, Intel usembbthat generates dmternal Equity Report”
when making offers to new employees. ECF R49-16 at 212-13. In the words of Ogden Reid
(Intel Director of Compensation and Benefits), “iroh of our culture screams egalitarianism . . .
While we play lip service to meritocracy, wellg believe more in gating everyone the same
within broad bands.” ECF No. 769-8.

An Intel human resources document from 284Rior to the anti-satitation agreements—
recognized “continuing inequities in the alignmehbase salaries/EBrgets between hired and
acquired Intel employees” and “parallel issuestirgdgto accurate job grading within these two
populations.” ECF No. 750-15. In response, liptanned to: (1) “Review exempt job grade
assignments for job families with ‘critical skifllake adjustments, as appropriate”; and (2)

“Validate perception of inequities . . . . Scapgact to employees. Recommend adjustments, as
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appropriate.ld. An Intel human resources document can8rthat, in or around 2004, “[n]Jew hire
salary premiumsgrovesalary range adjustment.” EQ¥. 298-5 at 7 (emphasis added).

Intel would “match an Intel jobode in grade to a market survey job code in grade,” ECH
No. 749-16 at 89, and use that as part of the psolte determining its “own focal process or pay
delivery,”id. at 23. If job codes fell below the midpoiptus or minus a certain percent, the
company made “special market adjustment[is].’at 90.

4. Evidence Related to Adobe

Evidence from Adobe also suggests that Adebe aware of the impact of its anti-
solicitation agreements. Adobe pamngel recognized that “Apple walibe a great target to look
into” for the purpose of recruitingput knew that they could not do because, “[u]lnfortunately,
Bruce [Chizen (former Adobe CEO)] and Apple @ESteve Jobs have a gentleman’s agreement
not to poach each other’s talent.” ECF No. 291-1dol#e executives were also part and parcel of
the group of high-ranking executives that enteréal, ienforced, and attertgal to expand the anti-
solicitation agreements. Specifically, Mr. Chizenresponse to disceving that Apple was
recruiting employees of Macromedia (a sepagatéy that Adobe woulthater acquire), helped
ensure, through an email to Mobs, that Apple would honor Ag$ pre-existing anti-solicitation
agreements with both Adobe and Macromediarakdobe’s acquisition of Macromedia. ECF No.
608-3 at 50.

Adobe viewed Google and Apple to be amongdpscompetitors for talent and expressed
concern about whether Adobe was “winning tdlent war.” ECF No. 296-3. Adobe further
considered itself in a “six-horgace from a benefits standpinwvhich included Google, Apple,
and Intuit as among the other “horseSeéeECF No. 296-4. In 2008, Adobe benchmarked its
compensation against nine companies inclu@oggle, Apple, and Intel. ECF No. 296et; ECF
No. 652-6 (showing that, in 2010, Adobe consideraditino be a “direct per,” and considered
Apple, Google, and Intel to be “reference peers,” though Adobe did not actually benchmark

compensation against these latter companies).
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Nevertheless, despite viewing other Defertdas competitors, evidence from Adobe
suggests that Adobe had knowledge of the bilaggeeements to which Adobe was not a party.
Specifically, Adobe shared confidential compeimgainformation with other Defendants, despite
the fact that Adobe viewed adst some of the other Defendaatscompetitors and did not have a
bilateral agreement with them. For example, ptRsonnel at Intuit and at Adobe exchanged
information labeled “confidential” regarding hanuch compensation each firm would give and t
which employees that year. ECF No. 652-8. Adabe Intuit shared confidential compensation
information even though the two companies hadbilateral anti-solicétion agreement, and

Adobe viewed Intuit as a directmopetitor for talent. Such direct competitors for talent would no

likely share such sensitive compensation informatidhe absence of an overarching conspiracy,

Meanwhile, Google circulated an email tleapressly discussed how its “budget is
comparable to other tech companies” and compared the precisetagecehGoogle’s merit
budget increases to that of AdoBgple, and Intel. ECF N&O07-13. Google had Adobe’s precise
percentage of merit budget increases eliendh Google and Adobe dhao bilateral anti-
solicitation agreement. Such simay of sensitive compensation information among competitors i
further evidence of aaverarching conspiracy.

Adobe recognized that in the absence efdhti-solicitation aggements, pay increases
would be necessary, echoing Plaistitheory of impact. For example, out of concern that one
employee—a “star performer” due to his techngialls, intelligence, andollaborative abilities—

might leave Adobe because “he could easilyaggteat job elsewherehk desired,” Adobe

considered how best to retain him. ECF R@9-22. In so doing, Adobe expressed concern abou

the fact that this employee hatteady interviewed with fousther companies and communicated
with friends who worked theréd. Thus, Adobe noted that the ployee “was aware of his value
in the market” as well as the fact thag ttamployee’s friends from college were “making
approximately $15k more per year than he [wd}s.In response, Adobe decided to give the

employee an immediate pay raitg.
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Plaintiffs’ theory of impact is also suppaitby evidence that every job position at Adobe
was assigned a job title, and ew@b title had a corrgmnding salary rangeithin Adobe’s salary
structure, which included a salaminimum, middle, and maximur®eeECF No. 804-17 at 4, 8,
72, 85-86. Adobe expected that the distribution oéxisting employees’ salaries would fit “a bell
curve.” ECF No. 749-5 at 57. To assist managessaying within the presityed ranges for setting
and adjusting salaries, Adobe had an online salamnning tool as well asalary matrices, which
provided managers with guidelméased on market salary d&8aeECF No. 804-17 at 29-30
(“[E]ssentially the salary planng tool is populated with empleg information for a particular
manager, so the employees on their team [sic].héwe the ability to kind of look at their current
compensation. It shows them what the range is focuhent role that they'ran . . . . The tool also
has the ability to provide kind dfie guidelines that we remmnend in terms of how managers
might want to think about spending their allocBbeidget.”). Adobe’s practice, if employees were
below the minimum recommended salary range, waadjoist them to the mimum as part of the
annual review” and “red flag themid. at 12. Deviations from thelsay ranges would also result
in conversations with managewsherein Adobe’s officers explaed, “we have a minimum for a
reason because we believe you need tio li@s range to be competitivdd.

Internal equity was important at Adobe,iawas at other Defendé#s. As explained by
Debbie Streeter (Adobe Videresident, Total Rewards), Adobewalys look[ed] at internal equity
as a data point, because if you are going to godimebody externally that's making . . . more
than somebody who’s an existing employee thakigja performer, you need to know that before
you bring them in.” ECF No.749-& 175. Similarly, when considering whether to extend a
counteroffer, Adobe advised “internal equity should ALWAYS be considered.” ECF No. 746-7
5.

Moreover, Donna Morris (Adobe Seniordéi President, Global Human Resources
Division) expressed concern “abonternal equity due to compressi(the market driving pay for
new hires above the current employees).” ECF No. 298-9 (“Reality is mesvdre requiring base

pay at or above the midpoint digean increasingly aggressive ket.”). Adobe personnel stated
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=

that, because of the fixed budget, they may natiibe to respond to the problem immediately “bu
could look at [compression] for F¥0R6 if market remains aggressivé Id.

D. Weaknesses in Plaintiffs’ Case

Plaintiffs contend that though this evidemeeompelling, there are also weaknesses in
Plaintiffs’ case that make trialsky. Plaintiffs contend that thegsks are substantial. Specifically,
Plaintiffs point to the followinghallenges that they would ha\acéd in presenting their case to a

jury: (1) convincing a jury to find a single oveching conspiracy among the seven Defendants if

—J

light of the fact that several paiof Defendants did not have antiisitation agreerants with each
other; (2) proving damages in light of the fdwt Defendants intendéd present six expert
economists that would attack the methodology efrféffs’ experts; and (3) overcoming the fact
that Class members’ compensation has increiasi last ten years despite a sluggish economy
and overcoming general anti-tech worker sentinrehght of the perceived and actual wealth of
Class members. Plaintiffs alpoint to outstanding legal issyesich as the pending motions in
limine and the pending motion to determine whetherper se or rule of reason analysis should
apply, which could have aided Defendants’ abtiitypresent a case thatthilateral agreements
had a pro-competitive purposeeeECF No. 938 at 10-14.

The Court recognizes that Plaintiffs facdstantial risks if they proceed to trial.
Nonetheless, the Court cannot, in light of the em@e above, conclude that the instant settlement
amount is within the range of reasonablenessicpéatly compared to the settlements with the
Settled Defendants and the subsequent developrhére litigation. The Gurt further notes that

there is evidence in the record that mitigate astisome of the weaknesses in Plaintiffs’ case.

12 Adobe also benchmarked compensation off extesmiaices, which supports Plaintiffs’ theory o
Class-wide impact and undermin@sefendants’ theory that ttenti-solicitation agreements had
only one off, non-structural effects. For examphdobe pegged its compensation structure as a
“percentile” of average market mgpensation according to survey data from companies such as
Radford. ECF No. 804-17 at 4. Mr. Chizen explained the particular magk targets that Adobe
used as benchmarks for setting salary rangeslétkto be software, higech, those that were
geographically similar to wherevthe position existe” ECF No. 962-7 at 22. This demonstrated
that the salary structures thie various Defendants were linked, such that the effect of one
Defendant’s salary structureowid ripple across to the other féadants through external sources
like Radford.
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As to proving an overarching consgily, several pieces of evidence undermine
Defendants’ contentions that theateral agreements were untelto each other. Importantly,
two individuals, Steve Jobs (Gasunder, Former Chairman, and Former CEO of Apple) and Bil
Campbell (Chairman of Intuit Board of Directo€3p-Lead Director of Apple, and advisor to
Google), personally entered intofacilitated each of the bilatd agreements in this case.
Specifically, Mr. Jobs and George Lucas (forlf@eairman and CEO of Lucasfilm), created the
initial anti-solicitation agreement between Lucasfdnd Pixar when Mr. Jobs was an executive g
Pixar. Thereafter, Apple, under tleadership of Mr. Jobs, entergdo an agreement with Pixar,
which, as discussed below, Pixar executives @etpto the Lucasfilm-Pixar agreement. It was
Mr. Jobs again, who, as discussed above, sghoht to Sergey Brin (Google Co-Founder) and
Eric Schmidt (Google Executive Chairman, Membethef Board of Directa, and former CEQO)
to create the Apple-Google agreement. Thisegent was reached with the assistance of Mr.
Campbell, who was Intuit’'s Board Chairman, arfdeof Mr. Jobs, and an advisor to Google. The
Apple-Google agreement was discussed at GoBghrd meetings, at which both Mr. Campbell
and Paul Otellini (Chief Executive Officer of Ihend Member of the Google Board of Directors)
were present. ECF No. 819-10 at 47. After dsstons between Mr. Brin and Mr. Otellini and
between Mr. Schmidt and Mr. Otellini, Intel svadded to Google’s damticold-call list. Mr.
Campbell then used his influence at Googlsuocessfully lobby Google to add Intuit, of which
Mr. Campbell was Chairman of the Board ofd&tors, to Google’do-not-cold-call listSeeECF
No. 780-6 at 8-9. Moreover, it was a mere twanths after Mr. Jobs &red into the Apple-
Google agreement that Apple pressured Brucedbhiformer CEO of Adobe) to enter into an
Apple-Adobe agreement. ECF No. 291-17. As thssussion demonstrates, Mr. Jobs and Mr.
Campbell were the individuals most closely linkedhe formation of each step of the alleged
conspiracy, as they were present i@ finocess of forming each of the links.

In light of the overlapping nature of thesnall group of executives who negotiated and

enforced the anti-solicitation agreements, it issuwprising that these executives knew of the other

bilateral agreements to which their own firmsevaot a party. For example, both Mr. Brin and
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Mr. Schmidt of Google testified thétey would have told Mr. Otighi of Intel that Google had an
anti-solicitation agreement withpple. ECF No. 639-1 at 785 (“I'm sure we would have
mentioned it[.]"); ECF No. 819-12 at 60 (“I'm surspoke with Paul about this at some point.”).
Intel’'s own expert testified dt Mr. Otellini was likely awae of Google’s other bilateral
agreements by virtue of Mr. Otellini’'s mdership on Google’s board. ECF No. 771 at 4.
Moreover, Google recruiters kneaf the Adobe-Apple agreememd. (Google recruiter’s notation
that Apple has “a serious ‘hands-off’ policytiviAdobe”). In addition, Mr. Schmidt of Google
testified that it would be “fair to extrapolatbased on Mr. Schmidt’s knowledge of Mr. Jobs, that
Mr. Jobs “would have extended [anti-solicitategreements] to others.” ECF No. 638-8 at 170.
Furthermore, it was this samexwf top executives that succaddf and unsuccessfully attempted
to expand the agreement to other compani&ilicon Valley, such as eBay, Facebook,
Macromedia, and Palm, as discussed above, suggéeistit the agreemenigere neither isolated
nor one off agreements.

In addition, the six bili@ral agreements contained neadligntical terms, precluding each
pair of Defendants from affirmatively soliaiy any of each other’s employees. ECF No. 531 at J
Moreover, as discussed above f&alants recognized the similarity of the agreements. For
example, Google lumped together Apple, Ingéeld Intuit on Google'sdo-not-cold-call” list.
Furthermore, Google’s “do-not-ablcall” list stated that thApple-Google agreement and the
Intel-Google agreement commenced on the same [diatly, in an email, Lori McAdams (Pixar
Vice President of Human Resources and Admirtistng explicitly compared the anti-solicitation
agreements, stating that “effective now, we’ll éo¥l a gentleman’s agreement with Apple that is
similar to our Lucasfilm agiement.” ECF No. 531 at 26.

As to the contention that Plaintiffs wouldvgato rebut Defendants’ contentions that the
anti-solicitation agreements aided collaboratiand were therefore pro-competitive, there is no
documentary evidence that links the anti-soliatatagreements to any cdilaration. None of the
documents that memorialize collaboration agnents mentions the broad anti-solicitation

agreements, and none of the documents thatarnalize broad antigicitation agreements
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mentions collaborations. Furthermore, even Defersdanperts conceded that those closest to the

collaborations did not know de anti-solicitation agreementCF No. 852-1 at 8. In addition,
Defendants’ top executives themselves acknowldugéack of any collaborative purpose. For
example, Mr. Chizen of Adobe admitted that thdobe-Apple anti-solicitation agreement was “ng
limited to any particular projés on which Apple and Adobe wetellaborating.” ECF No. 962-7
at 42. Moreover, the U.S. Departmentjustice (“DOJ”) also deteined that the anti-solicitation
agreements “were not ancillary to any legitiemabllaboration,” “werdoroader than reasonably
necessary for the formation or implementation of any collaborative effort,” and “disrupted the
normal price-setting mechanisms that apply anldbor setting.” ECF N®3-1 Y 16; ECF No. 93-

4 9 7.The DOJ concluded that Defendants entered inteemgents that were restraints of trade th

were per seinlawful under the antitrust laws. ECF N&-1 1 35; ECF No. 93-4 | 3. Thus, despite

the fact that Defendants havaiohed since the beginning of tHisgation that there were pro-
competitive purposes related to collaborationgheranti-solicitation agreements and despite the|
fact that the purported collabomatis were central to Defendantsbtions for summary judgment,
Defendants have failed to prodysersuasive evidence that these anti-solicitation agreements
related to collaborations or were pro-competitive.
IV.  CONCLUSION

This Court has lived with this case for nearly three years, and during that time, the Col
has reviewed a significant number of documentdijndicating not only the substantive motions,
but also the voluminous sealingguests. Having done so, theutt cannot conclude that the
instant settlement falls within the range of read@ness. As this Cowtated in its summary
judgment order, there is ample evidencambverarching conspiracy between the seven
Defendants, including “[t]he similarities the various agreements, the small number of
intertwining high-level executives who enteretbiand enforced the agreements, Defendants’
knowledge about the other agreementsstiaing and benchmang of confidential
compensation information among Defendants and beémeen firms that did not have bilateral

anti-solicitation agreements, along with Defendaekpansion and attempted expansion of the
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anti-solicitation agreements.” ECF No. 771 &. ™Moreover, as discussed above and in this
Court’s class certification order, the evidenc®efendants’ rigid wage istctures and internal
equity concerns, along with statements fronfeDdants’ own executiveaye likely to prove
compelling in establishing the impact of the anti-solicitation agreements: a Class-wide depres
of wages.

In light of this evidence, thCourt is troubled by the factahthe instant settlement with
Remaining Defendants is proportaly lower than the settlementvith the Settled Defendants.
This concern is magnified by the fact that tlase evolved in Plaintiffs’ favor since those
settlements. At the time those settlements wemehed, Defendants stilbald have defeated class
certification before this CourDefendants still could have succeslsf sought appellate review and
reversal of any class certification, Defendants still could haavaged on summary judgment, or
Defendants still could have succeeded in theingitdo exclude Plaintiffs’ principal expert. In
contrast, the instant settlement was reached a memnéh before trial was set to commence and
after these opportunities for Def#ants had evaporated. While thgredictable nature of trial
would have undoubtedly posed challenges fomifés, the exposure for Defendants was even
more substantial, both in termstbg potential of more than $49lwn in damages and in terms of
other collateral corexjuences, including the spotlight thatudd have been placed on the evidenct
discussed in this Order and otlevidence and testimony that wdulave been brought to light.
The procedural history and proximity to trialosihd have increased, not decreased, Plaintiffs’
leverage from the time the settlements withSkttled Defendants were reached a year ago.

The Court acknowledges that Class counsel baes zealous advoeatfor the Class and
have funded this litigation themselves agaexraordinarily well-resourced adversaries.
Moreover, there very well may be weaknesseschiatlenges in Plairfts’ case that counsel
cannot reveal to this Court. Nonetheless,@ourt concludes th#te Remaining Defendants
should, at a minimum, pay theinfghare as compared to thettgel Defendants, who resolved
their case with Plaintiffs at a stage of the litigatwhere Defendants had much more leverage o\

Plaintiffs.
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For the foregoing reasons, the Court DENHMB&iIntiffs’ Motion for Preliminary Approval

of the settlements with Remaining Defendafitse Court further sets a Case Management

Conference for September 10, 2014 at 2 p.m.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: August 8, 2014

Case No.: 11-CV-02509-LHK

Fuey N b

LUCY H. K&H
United States District Judge
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